IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MARTHA J. STANCIL

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2009-CA-01962

JAMES TERRY FARRIS

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF ITAWAMBA COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL D. COOKE, PLLC MISS. BAR NO. ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT POST OFFICE BOX 625 IUKA, MS 38852 (662)423-2000

i.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

MARTHA J. STANCIL

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

V.

NO. 2009-CA-01962

JAMES TERRY FARRIS

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT DECLARING THE EASEMENT OF TERRY FARRIS ABANDONED AND SETTING SAME ASIDE
- II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING A PORTION OF THE PROPERTY TO TERRY FARRIS BY VIRTUE OF ADVERSE POSSESSION

Ł

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case initially involved a land line dispute between Sybil Prestage Wilburn, mother of the Appellant, Martha Stancil, herein, and James Terry Farris. An Agreed Order was entered by the parties establishing a line between the parties and granting an easement to James Terry Farris on September 13, 2003. (Record Excerpt, p. 6.) Subsequent to the Order entered by the Court, Sybil Prestage Wilburn conveyed, by Quitclaim Deed, the subject property to her daughter, Martha Stancil. A copy of that Quitclaim Deed was attached to the Complaint for Modification. A Complaint for Modification was then filed in November of 2008 by Martha Stancil alleging that Terry Farris had abandoned the easement and therefore this Court should set it aside in it's entirety. (Record Excerpt, p. 10 & p. 14.)

An Answer to the Complaint for Modification was filed by Terry Farris. (Record Excerpt, p. 17) Terry Farris also filed a Counter-Complaint for Citation of Contempt of Court alleging that the had been denied access to the use and enjoyment of his own property. (Record Excerpt, p.21.) Martha Stancil then filed her Answer to the Counter-Complaint for Citation of Contempt of Court. (Record Excerpt, p. 27.) Some time thereafter, both parties realized that this cause of action might involve adverse possession. Therefore, the attorneys of record agreed that each side would file an amended complaint and amended counter-complaint for adverse possession so that all issues would be before the Court. Terry Farris then filed his Amended Counter-Complaint for Contempt and Adverse Possession. (Record Excerpt, p. 31.) Martha Stancil filed an Answer to the Amended Counter-Complaint for

÷

Contempt and Adverse Possession and filed her Amended Complaint for Adverse Possession. (Record Excerpt, p. 39.) Terry Farris then filed his Answer to the Amended Complaint of Martha Stancil. (Record Excerpt, p. 44.)

A hearing on the merits was held on November 2, 2009 at the Itawamba County Courthouse in Fulton, Mississippi. After the testimony of Martha Stancil, her ex-husband, Allen Stancil, and her son, Destry Stancil, the Plaintiff rested. The Defendant then put on the testimony of J.T. Farris, father of Terry Farris, Gerald Moody, and the Defendant, Terry Farris. In the opinion of Martha Stancil, the testimony did not rise to the level of adverse possession from either party. However, Martha Stancil owns the triangular tract of property in which the Court awarded to Terry Farris by virtue of adverse possession. Subsequent to the Court's opinion rendered in open Court on November 2, 2009, an Order was entered by the Court on November 10, 2009 *nunc pro tunc* for November 2, 2009 denying the request of Martha Stancil to set aside the easement of Terry Farris and granting Terry Farris the triangular piece of property by virtue of adverse possession. (Record Excerpt, p. 109 & p. 127.) Based upon the Court's oral opinion and it's subsequent Order, a Notice of Appeal was filed by Martha Stancil on December 8, 2009. (Record Excerpt, p. 130.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Martha Stancil testified that water backed up on Terry Farris' land some time ago, but that she has now built a lake, removed beavers and there is no water on Farris' land. Thus, he has access to the southern portion of his land without using the easement. (Record Excerpt, pages 52 and 53.) Martha Stancil testified that Terry Farris has never bush-hogged the easement or any portion of his property by using the easement until after her modification suit was filed in November of 2008. (Record Excerpt, page 55.) Destry Stancil, the son of Martha Stancil, testified that you could drive from the northern portion of Terry Farris' land to the southern portion of his land now because no water backed up on his land. (Record Excerpt, page 69.)

Gerald Moody, a friend of Terry Farris and one of his witnesses, testified that he deer hunts on Farris' land and he drives to a food plot on the south end of the property because there are food plots and fire lanes throughout the property since it has been sectioned off. (Record Excerpt, pages 74 and 75.) Terry Farris testified that water doesn't back up on his land anymore since Martha Stancil built her lake. (Record Excerpt, p. 77) He further testified that he can get to the southern portion of his land without using the easement. (Record Excerpt, p. 178.) Based upon this testimony, it is apparent that Terry Farris has other access to his property, either through and across his own property or by other means. Therefore, the easement is not a necessity. By virtue of the testimony of Martha Stancil and all of the photographs depicted as Court exhibits 3-1 through 3-43 it is apparent that Terry Farris did not use the easement nor did Terry Farris bush-hog any portion of his property, the reason for which he claimed he needed the easement. (Record Excerpt, pages 80-105.)

It is clearly established law in Mississippi that once an easement has been abandoned the Court has authority and should set the easement aside. It is also clearly established law that if an individual has access to a portion of their property, even though it may be more inconvenient and more expensive, that an easement is inappropriate and should not be granted. The original easement granted by Martha Stancil's mother to Terry Farris was because Terry Farris could not get to the southern portion of his property due to water backing up on his property from the Wilburn, and now Stancil, property. That was not the case before the Court in November of 2009.

At all times, Martha Stancil's mother and then Martha Stancil owned the triangular piece of property. Martha Stancil testified that her ex-husband, Allen Stancil built the fence on the southerly portion of the triangular area in 1973 or 1975 so that Mattie Thrasher, who lived at the end of the road, could see down the road. (Record Excerpt, pages 47 & 48.) Pine trees were in the triangular area. Allen Stancil cut them down so that Mrs. Thrasher could see down the road. (Record Excerpt, page 47.) Martha Stancil and Allen Stancil lived in the house just to the east of the triangular area until she moved to her present house in 1980. During that time frame, she and Allen Stancil maintained this triangular area. (Record Excerpt, page 50.) Dr. Tom McDonald in Tupelo, owned the Thrasher land at one time, but never maintained it. Martha Stancil never saw Terry Farris maintain the triangular area. (Record Excerpt, page 51.)

Allen Stancil, the ex-husband of Martha Stancil, erected the fence on the public road that was there until he took it down in the mid 1970's. (Record Excerpt, pages 60 and 61.) Allen Stancil created the little triangular area by cutting some trees so Mattie Thrasher could see down the road. (Record Excerpt, pages 61, 62 & 63.) He maintained the triangular area until he moved in the mid 1980's. (Record Excerpt, page 62.)

Destry Stancil, Martha Stancil's son, lived on the two acres immediately east of the triangular area from 1990 until the spring of 2007. He and his dad put up the new fence on the north side of the triangular area. He maintained the triangular area the entire time he lived there from 1990 to 2007. (Record Excerpt, page 64, 65, and 66.) Destry Stancil has never seen Terry Farris maintain the triangular area nor did he ever see Dr. Tom McDonald maintain the triangular area. (Record Excerpt, pages 67 and 70.) Destry Stancil has never seen Terry Farris on the triangular tract of land. (Record Excerpt, page 68.)

J.T. Farris, the father of Terry Farris, admits that the Stancils could have mowed the triangular area because he says the times that he was there the triangular area was pretty clean and it was clean before his son bought it. He assumed then that "somebody mowed it". He testified that he never saw Dr. Tom McDonald mow that property. (Record Excerpt, pages 72 and 73.)

Terry Farris testified that he could not dispute Allen Stancil's testimony about building the fence on the south side of the triangular area or why he built it. (Record Excerpt, pages 76.)

ι

The testimony in this case was such that if one had to put a percentage to it, it would be about 50% for Martha Stancil and 50% for Terry Farris. However, that does not equate to taking property away from the record title holder, Martha Stancil, and conveying it to Terry Farris by adverse possession. The burden of proof on an adverse possession claim is to show by clear and convincing evidence that each element of the adverse possession criteria is met. This is not the case before this Court.

ι

ARGUMENT

A. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case initially involved a land line dispute between Sybil Prestage Wilburn and James Terry Farris. An Agreed Order was entered by this Court on September 13, 2003 wherein the land line was established and Terry Farris was granted an easement on the west side of Mrs. Wilburn's property in order that he could access the southern portion of his property for maintenance. (Record Excerpt, page 6.) Subsequent thereto, Mrs. Wilburn conveyed her property to her daughter, Martha Stancil. Martha Stancil then filed a Complaint for Modification in November of 2008 claiming that Terry Farris had abandoned his easement. (Record Excerpt, page 10.) Numerous pleadings were filed thereafter which ultimately resulted in Amended Complaints being filed by both parties alleging adverse possession as it related to a particular triangular piece of land on the northern portion of the Stancil property and just east of the line between Martha Stancil and Terry Farris.

This Court held a trial on this cause on November 2, 2009 at the Itawamba County Courthouse in Fulton, Mississippi. After witnesses had been presented by Martha Stancil and Terry Farris, the Chancellor entered his oral opinion into the record. (Record Excerpt, page 109.) That opinion was followed by an Order signed by the Court on November 10, 2009 *nunc pro tunc* for November 2, 2009. (Record Excerpt, page 127.) The Court ruled that the easement granted to Terry Farris had not been abandoned. The Court further ruled that the triangular piece of land had been acquired by Terry Farris by virtue of adverse possession. By the Court's Order, it totally disregarded the testimony of several of the witnesses who testified that Terry Farris could get to the southern portion of his property without using the easement. The Court further disregarded numerous photographs filed in this cause of action as Exhibit "3" being approximately forty-three (43) photographs which reflect that Terry Farris had not maintained the southern portion of his property since it had grown up well over head high. (Record Excerpt, pages 80-105.) The Court further disregarded the testimony of witnesses regarding the triangular portion of land when it awarded same to Terry Farris by adverse possession. Martha Stancil was the record title holder to this tract of land.

The testimony, at best, reflected that Martha Stancil and her witnesses indicated that they had maintained that property for numerous years. Terry Farris and one of his witnesses indicated that he had maintained that property. There was no testimony that would rise to the level of clear and convincing evidence that all of the criteria to establish an adverse possession claim had been reached by Terry Farris. The trial Court should not have continued the easement based on the testimony of the witnesses. Likewise, the trial Court should not have awarded Terry Farris the triangular tract of land based upon adverse possession. By failing to set aside the easement previously granted to Terry Farris and by awarding Terry Farris the triangular tract of land on the basis of adverse possession, the trial Court committed manifest error.

B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT DECLARING THE EASEMENT OF TERRY FARRIS ABANDONED AND SETTING SAME ASIDE

When this case originally was before this Court in 2003, Terry Farris had a problem of water backing up on his property from the property now owned by Martha Stancil. That problem no longer exists since Martha Stancil has built a lake, removed the beavers and controlled the water problem. (Record Excerpt, pages 52 and 53.) Martha Stancil says that Terry Farris has other access to his property. (Record Excerpt, 54.) Martha Stancil's testimony was that Terry Farris had only bush hogged his portion of the property on the southern end of his property after her current Complaint for Modification was filed. (Record Excerpt, page 55.) One only has to review the photographs admitted into evidence as Exhibit "3" to see that Terry Farris has not maintained the southern portion of the property for which he claimed the easement had been granted to him. (Record Excerpt, pages 52 and 53, and Record Excerpt, pages 80-105.)

Destry Stancil has testified that you can drive from the northern portion of Terry Farris' land to the southern portion of the property without utilizing the easement. He further testified that at the time of the easement, water backed up on the Farris land from his mother's property, but that now there is no water there due to the lake being built. As such, Mr. Farris has been allowed access to the southern portion of his property. (Record Excerpt, page 103.)

Of particular importance is Terry Farris' own witness, Gerald Moody. Mr. Moody testified that he frequently hunts on Terry Farris' land, that he drives to a food plot on the south end of the property, across Mr. Farris' land without using the easement. He further

states that there are food plots and fire lanes throughout Terry Farris' property since it has been sectioned off for fire protection purposes. (Record Excerpt, pages 74 and 75.)

The most important testimony regarding the easement is Terry Farris himself. He testified that water no longer backs up on his property because Martha Stancil built her lake. He states that he can now get to the southern portion of his land without the use of the easement. (Record Excerpt, pages 77 and 78.)

The law in Mississippi regarding easements does not contemplate that one citizen or corporation should be granted a right-of-way to the property of another citizen or corporation merely as a convenience or as a matter of saving expenses. There must be a real necessity before private property of an individual can be invaded by another for the purposes of an easement. The right to control and use one's property is a sacred right, not to be lightly invaded or disturbed. *Roberts v. Prassenos*, 69 So.2d 215 (1954).

When granting a petition for a private road as a means of ingress and egress over the property of another, the road must be reasonably, not absolutely, necessary. The road must be the only reasonable means of ingress and egress for the petitioners. *Reid v. Horne*, 208 So.2d 780 (1968). This Court has previously said that before one may acquire a private roadway over the land of another, he must allege and show that he is unable to obtain a reasonable right-of-way from all surrounding property owners and that there is a real necessity for such right-of-way as opposed to a mere convenience to the petitioner. *Rotenberry v. Renfro*, 214 So.2d 275 (1968).

The case of *Lancaster v. Columbus*, 33 F.Supp. 1012 (1971) is a federal case where the United States District Court for the Northern District of Mississippi determined that a way of necessity does not arise by implication if the claimant has another way of access to his property, however inconvenient that alternate way may be.

This Court has previously determined that a right-of-way by necessity was removed when a land owner was given a substitute easement. *Taylor v. Hays*, 551 So.2d 906 (1989). The case of *Alpaugh v. Moore*, 568 So.2d 291 (1990) is a case that is almost identical factually to the case at bar. The Court in *Alpaugh* determined that a land owner seeking an easement by necessity must be the burden of proof by showing that the property was bound on water by three sides and that the neighbors land provided the only dry access. The comparison to the case at bar is that the present case originally was one where Terry Farris had a reasonable claim because he could not access the southern portion of his property due to water backing up on his land as a result of beaver dams on the land of Martha Stancil. Now that Martha Stancil has constructed a lake and removed the beaver damns, the water has been drained from Terry Farris' property. Thus, he can no longer make a claim for the necessity of an easement because his land is dry and he has access to the southern portion of his property from the northern portion of his property.

Another case that has many similarities to the case at bar is *Broadhead v. Terpening*, 611 So.2d 949 (1992). In this case, the Court said that an easement by necessity lasts or exists only as long as the necessity exists. As such, the easement terminates immediately when other access to the land-locked parcel becomes available. In the case at bar, Terry Farris now

has access to the southern portion of his property across his own property. Therefore, there no longer exists a water barrier as an impediment to Terry Farris reaching the southern portion of his property.

This Court has stated that a petitioner must be prove that the only route that it desires for access to it's property is reasonably necessary and not merely for convenience. *Mississippi Power Co. v. Fairchild*, 791 So.2d 262 (2001).

Easements by necessity are terminable. This Court has determined that easements continue only as long as the necessity exists. In order to continue to have a right of easement by necessity, the party requesting the easement must demonstrate that the property is inaccessible. *Leaf River Forest Prods. v. Rowell*, 819 So.2d 1281 (2002). Terry Farris cannot demonstrate that his property is inaccessible.

The Court of Appeals determined in *Swan v. Hill*, 855 So.2d 459 (2003) that when an alternative route is reasonable for the purpose of a claim for easement by necessity the Court must look to whether the alternative route would involve disproportionate expense and inconvenience to the one requesting the easement by necessity. The Court should not award an easement by necessity when an alternate route exists, although the alternate route may be longer, more inconvenient and more expensive. The Court of Appeals has also determined that when a party asserts a right to an easement by necessity, he must demonstrate strict necessity. He is required to prove that there are no other means of access to his/her property. *Fike v. Shelton, III*, 860 So.2d 1227 (2003). Obviously, this not the case before this Court since Mr. Farris has other access to the southern portion of his property.

Again, the Mississippi Court of Appeals has stated that when granting an easement by necessity, the appellate Court is only concerned with whether an alternative route exists. If no such route exists, then the easement will be considered necessary. However, where other alternative routes exist the appellate Court will grant an easement over the neighboring land owner's property if it is the only reasonably necessary alternative route available. *Burns v. Haynes*, 205 WL 1021471 (2005).

If this Court looks at the law of this state regarding easements, the testimony of the parties in this cause of action, it becomes obvious that Terry Farris did not utilize the easement and therefore abandoned same. It becomes even more obvious, particularly in light of the testimony of Terry Farris, that he no longer needs the easement to reach the southern portion of his property. He now has access to the southern portion of his property, across his own property. (Record Excerpt, pages 77 and 78.) Therefore, the Court erred in not setting aside the easement as it no longer is necessary for Terry Farris to utilize same to reach all of his property.

C. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GRANTING A PORTION OF THE PROPERTY TO TERRY FARRIS BY VIRTUE OF ADVERSE POSSESSION

Adverse possession in Mississippi is established by Mississippi Code Annotated §§15-1-7 and 15-1-13.

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