2009-67-01962

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an

interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of

the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible

disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Martha J. Stancil, Appellant
- 2. James Terry Farris, Appellee
- 3. Michael D. Cooke, attorney for Appellant
- 4. R. Shane McLaughlin, attorney for Appellee
- 5. Nicole H. McLaughlin, attorney for Appellee
- 6. D. Kirk Tharp, attorney for Appellee

R. Share McLaughlin Attorney of record for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The Chancellor correctly determined that Terry Farris had not abandoned the easement across the Stancil property. Terry Farris and Sybil Wilburn, Stancil's mother who previously owned the property, agreed that Farris would have an express easement over the property in an Agreed Order entered on August 4, 2003. Farris had never commenced any proceedings seeking an easement by necessity from Wilburn. The easement was an express easement, not an easement by necessity.

Farris' express easement could be lost only by actions taken inconsistent with the easement and non-use for an extended period of time. There was no evidence in the record of such abandonment. Farris continued to use the easement several times per year. Moreover, contrary to Stancil's assertions, the easement continued to be the only reasonable access which Farris had to portions of his property. The Chancellor was correct in refusing to set the easement aside as Farris had not abandoned the easement.

Second, the Chancellor was likewise correct in finding that Terry Farris, and his predecessors in title, had adversely possessed the triangular area. The evidence established that all of the owners of the Old Thrasher Place had maintained the triangular area and treated it as part of the yard for the house on the property for approximately forty (40) years. The fence line on the south line of the triangle was always treated as the boundary line. Moreover, Terry Farris

11

himself had openly maintained the area as his own property for over ten (10) years with no objection from the Stancils.

The Chancellor properly considered each element necessary for a claim of adverse possession and found each met based on the credible evidence produced at trial. The record manifestly supports the Chancellor's factual findings. The Chancellor correctly determined that Farris had acquired the property by adverse possession.

<u>ARGUMENT I.</u>

THE CHANCELLOR CORRECTLY FOUND THAT FARRIS HAD NOT ABANDONED THE EASEMENT.

An easement may be abandoned by actions taken inconsistent with the easement and nonuse for an extended period of time. *See Columbus & G. R. Co. v. Dunn*, 185 So. 583 (Miss. 1939); *COR Devs., LLC v. College Hill Heights Homeowners, LLC*, 973 So. 2d 273, 286 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). There must be acts indicating an intention to abandon an easement before abandonment can be found. *Dunn*, 185 So. at 586. The Supreme Court has explained:

Since abandonment is so largely a question of intention, all the facts and circumstances, and particularly the acts and conduct of the parties, tending to show or disprove the intention to abandon may be taken into consideration, as the intention is ordinarily a question of fact, although the situation of the property and conduct of the former owner may in certain cases be sufficient to imply in law an abandonment. In determining claims of abandonment the courts have generally announced that each case must depend mainly on its own particular circumstances, the evidence of which must be full and clear. Proof of abandonment must be direct or affirmative, or must reasonably beget the exclusive inference of the intentional relinquishment of the property right involved.

Id. at 586.

The Court has held that "[o]nce the easement is properly created . . . abandonment requires 'protracted non-use for an extended period of time,' which creates a 'presumption of

abandonment." Bivens v. Mobley, 724 So. 2d 458, 461 (Miss. Ct. App. 1998) quoting R & S Development, Inc. v. Wilson, 534 So. 2d 1008, 1010 (Miss. 1988).

In this case, there is no question that Terry Farris did not abandon the easement he was granted over the Stancil property by the Agreed Order in 2003. The evidence established that Farris continued to use the easement at least four (4) or five (5) times per year to access some portions of his property. There is no evidence of any action undertaken by Farris indicating an intent to abandon the easement.

The Trial Court specifically found that there was never any protracted period of non-use of the easement and that there was no intent by Terry Farris to abandon the easement. (T. p. 177, 179). These factual findings are supported by the overwhelming record-evidence. In fact, there is no evidence to the contrary in the record. The Chancellor was correct in finding that the easement had not been abandoned.

Stancil, however, argues that the easement should have been set-aside because Farris no longer had any "necessity" of its use. This argument fails for multiple reasons. First of all, the 2003 easement was not an "easement by necessity." (*See* R. p. 35) (providing that "Defendant, Terry Farris, shall have an easement more particularly described as follows . . ."). The easement does not reference any necessity and is not limited by any necessity. Terry Farris had an *express* easement across the Stancil property, not an easement by necessity. An express easement, of course, is an easement granted by an express written instrument. *See, e.g., Evanna Plantation, Inc. v. Thomas*, 999 So. 2d 442, 446 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (differentiating between express easement, easement by necessity and prescriptive easement). An easement by necessity does not contemplate an easement by an express written conveyance. *Cf. Huggins v. Wright*, 774 So. 2d 408, 411 (Miss. 2000).

Further, the proper manner for seeking a private way across neighboring land is by petitioning the County board of supervisors. *Alpaugh v. Moore*, 568 So. 2d 291, 295 (Miss. 1990); MISS. CODE ANN. § 65-7-201. There were no such proceedings in this case further rebutting the claim that the 2003 easement was an easement by necessity. Similarly, Farris had filed no claim for an easement by necessity in the Chancery Court prior to the August 4, 2003, Agreed Order. Thus, the easement established by the Agreed Order could not have been an easement by necessity.

By virtue of the 2003 Agreed Order, Farris has an express easement over the Stancil property. Martha Stancil's mother, Sybil Wilburn, agreed to grant Farris the express easement in exchange for the boundary-line settlement. (R. p. 34-35).

Stancil asserts, without citation to any record-evidence, that Terry Farris "had a problem with water backing up on his property" in 2003, and that this must have been the reason for the easement provided for in the 2003 Agreed Order. (Brf. of Appellant at 14). Nothing in the record supports this. No testimony established that Farris claimed any necessity for an easement. Farris never filed a counter-claim for an easement by necessity in the case which Sybil Wilburn filed against him. No claim for an easement by necessity was pending before the Court at the time the August 4, 2003, Agreed Order was entered.

In fact, when questioned as to whether necessity was the reason for the 2003 easement in the Agreed Order, Terry Farris testified that he did not believe that was the reason for Sybil Wilburn agreeing to the easement. (T. p. 166). The testimony is as follows:

Q: And that was really the original reason of the agreement for the easement because you needed to get across and you couldn't get across that water, wasn't it?

14

A: Well, I don't know whether that was the original - I really don't know whether that was the original agreement or not. I didn't take it that was the original agreement.

(*Id.*). The 2003 Agreed Order established a compromise: The Parties agreed on the north-south boundary line between their properties and Terry Farris got the easement set out in the Order. This compromise did not establish a temporary easement limited by some phantom necessity. Rather, by its own terms, the Order established an express easement for Terry Farris and his heirs.

Finally, Stancil is likewise incorrect, in any event, in arguing that that the easement in favor of Farris was no longer reasonably necessary. The evidence showed that use of the easement was indeed the only reasonable way that Farris could access part of his property. Without using the easement, Farris would have to use a bulldozer to clear a path of travel. According to the evidence at trial, the alternate means of accessing Farris' property was impassible even for walking.

In short, Terry Farris never sought an easement by necessity over the Stancil property by any means. Rather, Farris obtained an express easement by agreement as part and parcel of the settlement embodied in the August 4, 2003, Agreed Order. The evidence irrefutably showed that Farris had not abandoned the easement. Accordingly, the Trial Court correctly refused to set the easement aside. The Trial Court' decision should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT II.

THE CHANCELLOR CORRECTLY FOUND THAT FARRIS HAD ADVERSELY POSSESSED THE SUBJECT PROPERTY.

Mississippi Code section 15-1-13 provides as follows:

Ten (10) years' actual adverse possession by any person claiming to be the owner for that time of any land, uninterruptedly continued for ten (10) years by occupancy, descent, conveyance, or otherwise, in whatever way such occupancy may have commenced or continued, shall vest in every actual occupant or possessor of such land a full and complete title, saving to persons under the disability of minority or unsoundness of mind the right to sue within ten (10) years after the removal of such disability, as provided in Section 15-1-7. However, the saving in favor of persons under disability of unsoundness of mind shall never extend longer than thirty-one (31) years.

MISS. CODE ANN. § 15-1-13. The Supreme Court has announced a six-part test to determine

whether property has been adversely possessed. Rice v. Pritchard, 611 So. 2d 869, 871 (Miss.

1992). The elements for adverse possession are that the property has been possessed as follows:

- 1. Under claim of ownership;
- 2. Actual or hostile;
- 3. Open, notorious, and visible;
- 4. Continuous and uninterrupted for a period of ten years;
- 5. Exclusive; and
- 6. Peaceful.

Rice, 611 So. 2d at 871. The rule of "tacking" provides that a predecessor's possession of the property may be combined with a subsequent possessor's possession to meet the requirements for adverse possession. *Buford v. Logue*, 832 So. 2d 594, 606 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

Each element of adverse possession must be proven by clear and convincing evidence. *Thornhill v. Caroline Hunt Trust Estate*, 594 So. 2d 1150, 1153 (Miss. 1992). "A finding that the proof was sufficient to sustain a claim of adverse possession is a fact-finding that requires our application of the substantial evidence/manifest error test." *Sturdivant v. Todd*, 956 So. 2d 977, 982 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). As long as the Chancellor's fact-findings are supported by substantial evidence this Court will affirm. *Sturdivant*, 956 So. 2d at 982.

The Trial Court in this case found, as a factual finding, that each of these elements was proven by clear and convincing evidence. In making these findings the Court noted: Now, we get down to the matter of the triangle. This, of course, is where the bur comes under the saddle. The testimony to some degree is conflicting here, but this Court cited at the beginning that this Court is one who weighs the credibility of the witnesses, the demeanor of the witnesses. I'm going to be frank with you, I was impressed by J.T. Farris and by Terry Farris and the type of responses and answers that they gave in this case. I was impressed by their credibility in this case.

(T. p. 181). As discussed below, there was ample evidence from which the Chancellor could, and did, find that each element was satisfied such that Farris had adversely possessed the triangular area.

A. Under Claim of Ownership

The record is replete with evidence that Terry Farris possessed the triangular area under claim of ownership and that his predecessor in title, Dr. McDonald, likewise possessed the area under claim of ownership. The evidence demonstrated that Farris, and Dr. McDonald before him, claimed that the boundary line of the Old Thrasher Place extended to the fence line, and that they thus owned the triangular area. From October 1997 to present, Terry Farris claimed he owned the property.

In fact, Farris and Dr. McDonald actually walked the boundary lines of the Old Thrasher Place before Farris bought it from Dr. McDonald and indicated that the property included the triangular area. The triangular area was treated like part of the yard for the house on the property (Aunt Mat's house) by occupants over the years. Terry Farris continued this and mowed the triangle as part of the yard to the house.

There is no question that Farris claimed ownership of the triangle. He unequivocally testified to as much at trial. Further, previous owners of the Old Thrasher Place claimed the area as part of the property for at least forty (40) years before trial. Dr. McDonald had claimed ownership of the area. The Trial Court properly found this element satisfied.

<u>B. Actual or Hostile</u>

"Actual possession has been defined as 'effective control over a definite area of land, evidenced by things visible to the eye or perceptible to the senses". *Sturdivant*, 956 So. 2d at 987 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) quoting *Blankinship v. Payton*, 605 So.2d 817, 819-20 (Miss. 1992). Possession is actual and hostile whenever a person intends to claim ownership. *Id.*

The testimony at trial manifestly established that Terry Farris had actual and hostile possession of the triangular area. The area was outside the fence line which separated the properties. Terry Farris claimed ownership of the land and maintained the land just as he did all of the other property which comprised the Old Thrasher Place. Farris' control was undisputedly visible to the eye. Not only did Farris mow the land as part of the yard to the house on his property, the land looked obviously different from the other land in that it was clear of large pine trees.

Similarly, Dr. McDonald who owned the property before Terry Farris had actual and hostile possession of the property. Again here, the testimony established that the property had been actually possessed by owners of the Old Thrasher Place for about forty (40) years.

The Chancellor correctly concluded that Terry Farris had actual and hostile possession of the property. There is substantial evidence to support this finding.

C. Open, Notorious and Visible

"[A]n adverse possessor 'must unfurl his flag on the land, and keep it flying, so that the (actual) owner may see, and if he will, that an enemy has invaded his domains, and planted the standard of conquest." *Blankinship v. Payton*, 605 So. 2d 817, 820 (Miss. 1992). The Court has explained as follows regarding this element:

Both the quality and quantity of possessory acts necessary to establish a claim of adverse possession may vary with the characteristics of the land. Adverse

18

possession of "wild" or unimproved lands may be established by evidence of acts that would be wholly insufficient in the case of improved or developed lands. The question in the end is whether the possessory acts relied upon by the would be adverse possessor are sufficient to fly his flag over the lands and to put the record title holder upon notice that the lands are held under an adverse claim of ownership.

Lynn v. Soterra Inc., 802 So. 2d 162, 167 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001).

There is overwhelming evidence in the Record to support such a finding. Terry Farris, J.T. Farris and Gerald Moody all testified that Terry Farris openly maintained the triangular area as part of the Old Thrasher Place. Terry openly maintained the triangular area as part of the yard for the house on the property. The land inside the triangular area was mowed and maintained simultaneously with Farris' other property. The property even looked different than the neighboring property, in that it was mowed grass rather than large pines.

There was essentially no dispute at trial that Farris' maintenance and possession had been open, notorious and visible. In fact, Martha Stancil admitted as much during her testimony. The property is just off a public road and it was obvious to any passer-by that Farris was maintaining the property.

Further, the testimony established that the previous occupants of the Old Thrasher Place had openly maintained the area as the yard for the home on the property for many years prior to Terry Farris acquiring the property. At all times, this maintenance of the property was open, notorious and visible. The Chancellor properly found this element satisfied.

D. Continuous and Uninterrupted for Ten Years

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